# St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan

Prepared for

Lane Cove Council

By



GLN Planning Pty Ltd ABN 39 585 269 237

Level 10, 70 Pitt Street Sydney NSW 2000 GPO Box 5013 Sydney NSW 2001

P [02] 9249 4100 F [02] 9249 4111

E <u>info@glnplanning.com.au</u> W glnplanning.com.au

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Plan summary	2
2.1	How to use this plan	2
2.2	Dictionary	3
2.3	Name and commencement of plan	4
2.4	What are the purposes of this plan?	4
2.5	What land and development does this plan apply to?	4
2.6	What development is exempted?	5
2.7	What Local Infrastructure will be provided under this plan?	5
2.8	What are the contribution rates required for Local Infrastructure?	7
3.	How are the contribution rates calculated?	8
3.1	Expected demand for Local Infrastructure	8
	3.1.1 Area context	8
	3.1.2 Expected development	8
	<ul><li>3.1.3 Expected population</li><li>3.1.4 Demographic characteristics</li></ul>	10 11
	3.1.5 Multi-faceted approach to infrastructure delivery	12
3.2	Infrastructure schedule and nexus	14
	3.2.1 Social infrastructure (open space & community services)	14
	3.2.2 Roads and drainage	18
	3.2.3 Plan administration	23
3.3	Infrastructure costs	24
3.4	Infrastructure staging	24
4.	How and when will contributions be imposed on developments?	26
4.1	Monetary contributions	26
4.2	Land contributions	26
4.3	Cap on monetary section 94 contributions for residential development	27
4.4	Contributions to only reflect net increase in infrastructure demands	28
4.5	Latest rates to be used	28
4.6	Obligations of accredited certifiers	28
	<ul><li>4.6.1 Complying development certificates</li><li>4.6.2 Construction certificates</li></ul>	28 30
4.7	Variation to contributions authorised by this plan	31
5.	How and when can a contribution requirement be settled?	32
5.1	Timing of payments	32
5.2	Process for deferred payments	32
5.3	Can the contribution be settled by dedicating land or undertake works?	33
	5.3.1 Offers and agreements generally	33
	5.3.2 Reimbursement of land and works values in excess of contribution requi	irements 34

6.	Other	administration matters	35
6.1	Relationship of this plan to other contributions plans		35
6.2	Savings	and transitional arrangements	35
6.3	6.3 Adjustment of contributions to address the effects of inflation		
	6.3.1 6.3.2	Contribution rates in this plan Contribution amounts in consents	35 35
6.4	Pooling	of contributions funds	36
6.5	Account	tability and access to information	36

# **Tables**

Table 1	Summary of infrastructure costs	6
Table 2	Summary of contribution rates	7
Table 3	Development potential	10
Table 4	Estimated net additional population	11
Table 5	Planning mechanisms to deliver SLS Precinct infrastructure	12
Table 6	Summary of social infrastructure costs and contributions	17
Table 7	Summary of roads, traffic and drainage infrastructure costs	22
Table 8	Summary of plan administration costs and contributions	24
Table 9	Summary of land required for Local Infrastructure	26

# **Figures**

Figure 1	Land affected by this plan	5
Figure 2	Land use arrangement	9
Figure 3	Built form layout and building heights	9
Figure 4	Anticipated built form and key section 94 infrastructure	10
Figure 5	Locations of consolidated sites linked to the provision of various public purposes $\boldsymbol{u}$ the LEP	under 13
Figure 6	Masterplan open space options	15
Figure 7	Planned open space network	17
Figure 8	Recommended traffic works	19
Figure 9	Planned access network	20
Figure 10	New road cross-section	21
Figure 11	Land within SLS Precinct required to be acquired by Council under the LEP	27

# **Appendices**

Appendix A:	Infrastructure schedule and location map
Appendix B:	Detailed cost estimates report

# 1. Introduction

Lane Cove Council (**Council**) has prepared a master plan for the redevelopment of the St Leonards South Precinct (**SLS Precinct**). Land within the SLS Precinct is to be rezoned to permit its redevelopment for up to 2,400 new dwellings.

The redevelopment is to be sustained by the provision of new and upgraded Local Infrastructure and other public purposes including new and upgraded roads and stormwater drainage facilities, open space and recreation facilities, community facilities, and affordable housing.

Council has developed a dual approach to the provision of this infrastructure in this area:

- Community facilities floor space, through-site pedestrian ways, affordable housing, and some pocket parks will be provided by developers in exchange for bonus floor space.
- New and upgraded roads (with integrated stormwater drainage upgrades), a new local park, and two pocket parks at the southern ends of Holdsworth Avenue and Berry Road will be provided using section 94 contributions.

Section 94 of the NSW Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 (**EP&A Act**) authorises a consent authority to grant consent to a proposed development subject to a condition requiring the applicant to make contributions toward the provision, extension or augmentation of Local Infrastructure (or towards recouping the cost of their provision, extension or augmentation). These contributions may be in the form of land, money or works.

Where the consent authority is a council or an accredited certifier, a Local Infrastructure contribution may be imposed on a development only if it is of a kind allowed by and determined in accordance with a contributions plan, such as this plan.

This plan authorises the Council or an accredited certifier to impose conditions on development consents or complying development certificates (**CDC**s) requiring section 94 contributions from residential accommodation development situated in the SLS Precinct that would, when completed, result in a net increase in the number of dwellings on the land.

The contributions that are made by developers will be applied by the Council to deliver the schedule of infrastructure land and works shown in **Appendix A** to this plan.

This plan has been prepared in accordance with the NSW EP&A Act and NSW Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 (**EP&A Regulation**); and having regard to the latest practice notes issued by the NSW Department of Planning and Environment.

This plan includes the following:

- A schedule of contribution rates for various classes of developments.
- Information on how the contribution rates were calculated.
- Council's policies on how and when developers can settle their contributions obligations, including opportunities for developers to provide land and works 'in kind'.
- Specific provisions on the role of accredited certifiers in imposing and collecting development contributions.
- Various other provisions related to the fair and transparent administration of development contributions received under this plan.

# 2. Plan summary

# 2.1 How to use this plan

This plan has been broken up into the following sections to allow easy navigation by Council staff, developers and private certifiers. A brief description of each section is provided below:

# Section 2 – Plan Summary

This section identifies both the land and developments that this plan applies to, as well as the contributions rates that apply to these developments.

# Section 3 – How are the contributions rates calculated?

This section explains how the contributions for development in the SLS Precinct are calculated. The expected development is described as well as the basis for determining the list of Local Infrastructure that will be required to meet that development. It also provides the formulas and approach for how the contribution rates have been calculated.

# Section 4 - How and when will contributions be imposed on development?

This section explains how conditions of consent will be used to collect contributions levied under this plan and provisions to index the contributions payable to reflect changes in land acquisition and construction costs. It also describes accredited certifiers' obligations to address the requirements of this plan in the issuing of construction certificates and CDCs.

# Section 5 – How and when a contribution requirement can be settled?

This section explains how consent conditions requiring the payment of contributions can be settled, typically by cash payment. It also provides Council's requirements for considering alternative means to satisfy contribution requirements under this plan through the use of Voluntary Planning Agreements and Works In Kind arrangements.

# Section 6 – Other administration matters

This section outlines other administrative arrangements surrounding the operation of this plan.

# **Appendices**

The appendices include a schedule and location map of the Local Infrastructure that is to be delivered under the plan, as well as the quantity surveyor's report that informed the infrastructure costs.

#### 2.2 **Dictionary**

Words and phrases used in this plan have the same meaning as the terms defined in Lane Cove Local Environmental Plan 2009 or the NSW EP&A Act, except as provided for below.

In this plan, the following words and phrases have the following meanings:

CDC means complying development certificate.

Consent authority has the same meaning as in the EP&A Act but also includes an accredited certifier responsible for issuing a complying development certificate.

Council means Lane Cove Council.

**IPART** means Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal

LGA means local government area.

Local Infrastructure means public amenities and public services that are traditionally the responsibility of local government, excluding water supply or sewerage services.

NSW EP&A Act means the NSW Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

NSW EP&A Regulation means the NSW Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

SLS Precinct means St Leonards South Precinct.

Residential Accommodation has the same meaning as contained in Lane Cove Local Environmental Plan 2009

#### 2.3 Name and commencement of plan

This plan is called St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan.

This plan commences on the date on which public notice was given under clause 31(2) of the EP&A Regulation or the date specified in that notice if it is a different date.

#### 2.4 What are the purposes of this plan?

The primary purpose of this plan is to authorise:

- the Council, when granting consent to an application to carry out development to which this plan applies; or
- an accredited certifier, when issuing a CDC for development to which this plan applies,

to require a contribution under section 94 of the NSW EP&A Act to be made towards the provision, extension or augmentation of Local Infrastructure that are required as a consequence of development in the SLS Precinct, or which were provided in anticipation of, or to facilitate, such development.

Other purposes of this plan are as follows:

- To operate in concert with the bonus floor space provisions in the Lane Cove Local Environmental Plan so that the full range of infrastructure and public purposes envisaged in the St Leonards South masterplan can be delivered
- To provide the framework for the efficient and equitable determination, collection and management of section 94 contributions in SLS Precinct.
- To establish the relationship between the expected development and proposed Local Infrastructure to demonstrate that the contributions required under this plan are reasonable.
- To allow the opportunity for Local Infrastructure to be provided by land developers as works in kind in lieu of paying a monetary contribution.
- To allow the opportunity for the dedication of land by land owners at no cost to Council in lieu of a monetary contribution.
- To ensure that the broader Lane Cove community is not unreasonably burdened by the • provision of Local Infrastructure required as a result of development in the SLS Precinct.

#### 2.5 What land and development does this plan apply to?

Subject to Section 2.6, this plan applies to the SLS Precinct, the extent of which is shown in Figure 1 over the page.

This plan applies to:

- Residential Accommodation development that would result in a net increase in dwellings on the land.
- Other development that would, in Council's opinion, create a net increase in demand for the Local Infrastructure items to be provided under this plan.

This plan only includes contribution rates for Residential Accommodation development, as this is the most likely group development type to occur in the SLS Precinct. Contributions for other development would be determined on a case by case basis.



#### Figure 1 Land affected by this plan

# 2.6 What development is exempted?

This plan DOES NOT apply to the following types of developments:

- Development proposed by or on behalf of the Council.
- Development for the purposes of any form of seniors housing defined in State Environmental Planning Policy (Housing for Seniors or People with a Disability) 2004 that is provided by a social housing provider.
- Development exempted from section 94 contributions by way of a direction made by the Minister for Planning.

# 2.7 What Local Infrastructure will be provided under this plan?

The Local Infrastructure to be provided by contributions from developers received under this plan are listed below:

```
10735 SLS Precinct s94 plan 5
```

- Land, site preparation and embellishment costs associated with a new local park to be located between Park Road and Berry Road.
- Land, site preparation and embellishment costs associated with a new local road that will create a new connection between Park Road and Berry Road.
- Embellishment of land at the southern (closed) ends of Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue to create 2 pocket parks.
- Reconstruction of Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue and associated stormwater drainage infrastructure, between Marshall Avenue and the proposed pocket parks.
- Resurfacing of Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue and associated stormwater drainage infrastructure.
- Resurfacing of the half of Park road and Marshall Avenue that interfaces with the precinct.
- Fit-out of a total of 1,200 square metres of gross floor area for the purpose of community facilities on land identified as Area 5 and Area 17 in the Lane Cove Local Environmental Plan However, these works are not 'essential works' as defined in the IPART Practice Note and will not be able to be funded using section 94 contributions in the event that the contributions plan is reviewed by IPART

The costs of administering this plan will also be met by contributions imposed under this plan.

A summary of the costs of Local Infrastructure to be met by development approved under this plan and predecessor contributions plans is shown in **Table 1**.

More details on the demand for Local Infrastructure, the relationship of the Local Infrastructure with the expected development, and specific facilities to be provided are included in **Part 3** and **Appendix A** of this plan.

#### Table 1 Summary of infrastructure costs

Local Infrastructure type	Sub category	Cost to SLS Precinct development
Essential works*		
Social infrastructure (open space)	Land	\$30,047,500
	Works	\$4,320,572
Roads & drainage	Land	\$7,520,460
	Works	\$8,846,968
Plan administration		\$197,513
Non essential works		
Community services (fit out of multi purpose facilities)	Works	\$2,808,000

\* refer to Revised Local Development Contributions Practice Note For the assessment of Local Contributions Plans by IPART (February 2014) for the definition of essential works

# 2.8 What are the contribution rates required for Local Infrastructure?

**Table 2** below summarises the contribution rates for the various categories of Local Infrastructure in this plan.

 **Part 3** of this plan discusses how the contribution rates have been derived.

Table 2 Summary of contribution rates

		Per resident*	Per studio or 1 bed dwelling	Per 2 bed dwelling	Per 3 or more bed dwelling
Essential works					
Social infrastructure (open space)	Land	\$6,908.27	\$9,671.57	\$13,816.53	\$21,415.62
	Works	\$993.35	\$1,390.69	\$1,986.70	\$3,079.38
Roads & drainage	Land	\$1,729.04	\$2,420.66	\$3,458.08	\$5,360.02
	Works	\$2,034.02	\$2,847.63	\$4,068.04	\$6,305.46
Plan administration		\$45.41	\$63.57	\$90.82	\$140.77
Essential works total		\$11,710.08	\$16,394.12	\$23,420.17	\$36,301.26
Non essential works					
Community services (fit-out of multi- purpose facilities)	Works	\$645.59	\$903.83	\$1,291.18	\$2,001.33

\* the per person rate is relevant to calculating the contributions for residential accommodation that is boarding houses, group homes, and hostels

Note: At the time this plan was prepared, consent authorities could not impose a monetary contribution on a residential development that exceeded \$20,000 per lot or dwelling. This restriction is due to a direction made by the Minister for Planning on 21 August 2012. Because of the significant funding shortfall that would result if the rates remained capped, Council intends to seek the Minister's approval to the higher contribution rates shown in this plan. Refer to **Section 4.3** of this plan for more details.

#### How are the contribution rates calculated? 3.

This part of the plan explains the expected development in the SLS Precinct, the infrastructure necessary to support this development, and the way the contributions for Local Infrastructure included in this plan have been calculated.

#### Expected demand for Local Infrastructure 3.1

# 3.1.1 Area context

The SLS Precinct is situated south-west of St Leonards Railway Station and bound by Marshall Avenue, Canberra Avenue, Park Road and River Road. Much of the land slopes to the south and east.

The area enjoys excellent access to rail, road and regional open space networks which has led to the State Government and Council designating it as a priority location to accommodate future population growth.

The area is to be rezoned to create a high-amenity residential precinct close to public transport, with community facilities, shared green open space, improved road connections, east-west pedestrian / cycle connectivity and affordable housing.

This plan consolidates the requirements for the precinct following Council resolution in 2015 and spreads apportioned costs over the area.

The existing character of the precinct is that of low density residential development. This development takes the form of detached and semi-detached dwellings along quiet residential streets. There were 115 detached dwelling houses and 20 semi-detached dwellings in the SLS Precinct when the land was rezoned for higher intensity development.

Lower density housing forms predominate on land further west and south of the precinct.

Land to the north of the site fronting Marshall Lane and closer to the St Leonards commercial and transport hub has already been redeveloped to accommodate for medium to high density residential development. Medium to high density developments up to 7 levels high are also existing to the east between Duntroon Avenue and the North Shore Railway.

# 3.1.2 Expected development

The general vision for the desired future character of the South St Leonards Precinct, as described in Council's DCP, is for a liveable, walkable, connective, safe, dense, transit-oriented precinct which builds upon the transit and land use opportunities of St Leonards Station and commercial centre.

The future development of the SLS Precinct is expected to have the following characteristics:

- High density residential use including provision for key worker / affordable housing. Developments up to 19 storeys are proposed in the northwest of the precinct which is closest to St Leonards station. Building heights will grade down to 4-6 storeys in the south of the precinct on the lands fronting River Road.
- Community spaces within future residential buildings on 'Area 5' and 'Area 17'.

- Road, pedestrian and cycling links to surrounding networks.
- An open space network and public domain network focused on existing and new parks and pedestrian paths and green spines through the area.

A plan showing the proposed arrangement of land uses is shown in **Figure 2**. A plan showing anticipated layout of buildings and maximum building heights is shown in **Figure 3**.



Source: St Leonards South Draft Development Control Plan



#### Figure 2 Land use arrangement

Source: St Leonards South Draft Development Control Plan

# Figure 3 Built form layout and building heights

```
10735 SLS Precinct s94 plan
9
```

An artist's impression of the proposed urban form, with labelling of the key Local Infrastructure to be provided using section 94 contributions, is shown in **Figure 4**.



# Figure 4 Anticipated built form and key section 94 infrastructure

The expected maximum development potential in the SLS Precinct is shown in Table 3.

Dwelling type	Assumed split	No.
Studio or 1-bedroom dwelling	40%	960
2-bedroom dwelling	40%	960
3 or more bedroom dwelling	20%	480
Total	100%	2,400

# Table 3Development potential

# 3.1.3 Expected population

The demand for local infrastructure to support the SLS Precinct arises from both the developments themselves and the populations that will live in them. Contributions for Local

```
10735 SLS Precinct s94 plan 10
```

Infrastructure are therefore based on the population expected to be accommodated in each development and the ultimate population of the entire precinct.

**Table 4** shows the estimated net additional population of the SLS Precinct that has in turn been based on occupancy rates for the different dwelling types recorded for Lane Cove LGA at the 2016 Census. It is reasonable to use these rates to determine the future population of the development.

Dwelling type	No.	Occupancy rate (2016 Census)	Estimated population
Expected development			
Studio or 1-bedroom dwelling	960	1.4	1,344
2-bedroom dwelling	960	2	1,920
3 or more bedroom dwelling	480	3.1	1,488
Sub total	2400		4,752
Existing development			
Separate house	115	3.1	356
Semi-detached dwelling	20	2.3	46
Sub total	135		402
Expected net additional population			4,350

# Table 4 Estimated net additional population

# 3.1.4 Demographic characteristics

The demographic characteristics of a development area are important in understanding the future social infrastructure needs of that area. A major change in land use, such as the change from low density residential to high density residential will generate new social infrastructure demands relevant to the characteristics of the expected population.

Council has undertaken an assessment of the likely characteristics of the future population of the SLS Precinct based on the overall demographic trends in the suburb of St Leonards. A summary these characteristics follows:

- The area is currently mainly occupied by working age residents. Persons aged under 15 years make up 10% of the resident population. The median age for residents in St Leonards in 2016 was 30. The primacy of these age groups will not materially change over time, with these groups still anticipated to comprise over 70% of the population in 2036.
- Compared to the Greater Sydney average, the St Leonards area in 2016 had significantly fewer numbers of school-age children, older workers, empty nesters and retirees; and had significantly greater numbers of young workers and tertiary students.
- Child-less couples are the dominant household type, with lone person and group households also significantly represented. The dominance of couple-only, single person and group households is expected to continue throughout the development horizon.
- In 2016 the average household size was 2 persons per dwelling.
- 63% of dwellings in the St Leonards area in 2016 were in rented dwellings, compared to the Sydney average of 31%.

- The area is largely made up of residents born in Australia. Other than Australian, the dominant cultural groups are Indian, Chinese, Japanese, British and Hong Kong. This cultural diversity is likely to increase in the future.
- The resident population is comparatively highly educated, with 84% having completed year 12.
- 53% of households own one or more motor vehicles with 47% not owning any motor vehicle.<sup>1</sup>

This social profile points to a need to provide the precinct development with accessible and multipurpose open space, open space linkages and community facilities suitable for a population that has a predominance of young working age people, with some having young children.

# 3.1.5 Multi-faceted approach to infrastructure delivery

Existing public amenities and services have essentially been designed to cater for the low density residential population that exists in the area. To support the full re-development of the precinct, significant augmentation and upgrading of existing infrastructure and public amenities is required. Council also identified a need to provide key worker housing as part of the redevelopment of the precinct.

Council proposes that the necessary amenities and services that are required for the SLS Precinct will be delivered using three planning mechanisms, as outlined in **Table 5**.

\* Location of the specific consolidated development sites, which underpins the bonus floor space mechanism are shown on **Figure 5**.

Planning mechanism	Infrastructure to be provided by this mechanism
Section 94 contributions (Developer either pays a monetary contribution to Council, or provides the land and / or works in the plan and receives a contribution offset)	<ul> <li>New local park on 3,500 square metres of land between Park Road and Berry Road</li> <li>New local road connecting Park Road and Berry Road</li> <li>Create 2 pocket parks at the southern (closed) ends of Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue</li> <li>Reconstruction of internal streets (Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue) including drainage</li> <li>Resurfacing of perimeter streets including drainage</li> </ul>
Bonus floor space and building height provisions in LEP (Developer directly provides the public purposes on the development site)*	<ul> <li>Affordable housing / key worker housing where the development is in Area 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 13 or 14</li> <li>Pocket parks fronting Marshall Avenue where the development is in Area 1, 2 or 12 – ownership and management of these areas is to rest with the owners of the developments on these sites</li> <li>Multi-purpose community floor space (minimum 600 m<sup>2</sup>) in a ground level stratum with adjoining play space (minimum 450 m<sup>2</sup>) where the development is in Area 5 or 17</li> <li>15m wide path linking Canberra Avenue and Holdsworth Avenue where the development is in Area 7 or 8</li> <li>6m wide, path linking Canberra Avenue and Holdsworth Avenue where the development is in Area 11</li> </ul>

#### Table 5 Planning mechanisms to deliver SLS Precinct infrastructure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> ABS Census

Planning mechanism	Infrastructure to be provided by this mechanism			
	<ul> <li>15m wide path linking Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue where the development is in Area 15 or 16</li> </ul>			
	6m wide path linking Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue where the development is in Area 20			
Conditions of consent (Developer directly undertakes the works which are either on or adjacent to the development site)	<ul> <li>Consistency with St Leonards South Landscape Master Plan including provision of 'Green Spines' on private land.</li> <li>Replace footpaths and landscaping within verge of existing roads as necessary</li> <li>Connections to existing water, sewer, energy,</li> </ul>			
	<ul> <li>telecommunications and other utility services</li> <li>All utility services within a public road reserve are to be placed underground for the total frontage of each site</li> <li>All utility services within each site are to be placed underground or encapsulated within the building</li> </ul>			



# Figure 5 Locations of consolidated sites linked to the provision of various public purposes under the LEP

This plan is only concerned with the delivery of infrastructure using section 94 contributions. **Section 3.2** of this plan summarises the cost of land and works required for each of the section 94 Local Infrastructure items, the nexus between the development and those items, and how the contribution rates are calculated.

# 3.2 Infrastructure schedule and nexus

The delivery of new Local Infrastructure to support the increased density in the precinct will include the acquisition of land and carrying out of capital works. Council is also anticipating future expenditure in administering this plan so that it remains valid and the contribution rates remain reasonable.

The following sections describe the scope and total costs of the various items of Local Infrastructure that is included in this plan. Further detail on specific items, their estimated costs and staging, and location maps are included in **Appendix A** and **B**.

# 3.2.1 Social infrastructure (open space & community services)

In this plan 'social infrastructure' includes Local Infrastructure that is required to sustain the social life of, and community wellbeing in, the SLS Precinct. The community will require the fit-out of community facilities floor space, however this infrastructure category is not deemed to be essential works. The social infrastructure levied under this plan is thus limited to land and works for open space and recreation facilities. Council will fund the community facilities fit-out works from other sources.

# **Objectives (open space)**

The objectives for open space and recreation facilities in the SLS Precinct are as follows:

- (a) Create a network of diverse, active and passive recreation spaces to support the residential populations of the Precinct.
- (b) Provide safe, accessible, sustainable, well-used and designed public open spaces within the Precinct.<sup>2</sup>

# Needs assessment and infrastructure strategy

The anticipated open space demands for the SLS Precinct development were assessed as part of the preparation of the St Leonards South Masterplan.<sup>3</sup>

There are few existing open space areas in the locality – Newlands Park with an area of 1.01 hectares is the largest of these. More significant open space – Gore Hill Oval and Cemetery - is located further to the north in the Willoughby LGA. However, access to this open space is frustrated by potential users having to cross the busy Pacific Highway.

With increased development (and population) there will be an increased demand for open space in terms of amount, distribution and quality and for improved connectivity within the Precinct (particularly east-west to / from Newlands Park and to / from the station).<sup>4</sup>

This masterplan considered various options for the provision of open space to serve the future residents of the precinct, including 'consolidated open space' and 'staggered shareways' options. These options are shown in **Figure 6**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> St Leonards South Draft Development Control Plan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> St Leonards South Draft Masterplan, prepared by Annand Associates Urban Design, December 2014, (P45)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ibid., p41



Source: St Leonards South Draft Masterplan, p44

#### Figure 6 Masterplan open space options

The masterplan noted that there was considerable support among stakeholders for the consolidated open space option, but recommended the staggered shareways option because of the former option's high acquisition cost and long lead time for acquisition.<sup>5</sup>

Council ultimately decided that a hybrid of the centralised park and staggered shareway options should be pursued for the precinct. The current location is central to the entire study area and links centrally with Newlands Park. In recognition of the masterplan consultant's concerns about cost and timing, Council reduced the planned land-take of the centralised open space from 16 to the equivalent of 8 regular house lots.<sup>6</sup>

It is noteworthy that the masterplan consultant assumed the acquisition of the land for the originally-conceived centralised local park would cost in the order of \$50 million. By reducing the size of the park, Council has been able to reduce this cost to around \$30 million, making its provision much more achievable.

The size of the planned centralised park is minimal having regard to:

- the need to accommodate a minimum amount of local recreation facilities to serve the new population, and
- existing rate of provision of publicly-owned developed open space enjoyed by the current populations in the Lane Cove LGA and in the study precinct.<sup>7</sup>

The prevailing rates of provision in these two areas are 1.86 hectares per 1,000 residents (LGAwide) and 1.19 hectares per 1,000 residents (existing precinct), respectively.<sup>8</sup>

By comparison, the provision of the new central local park with an area of 3,500 square metres will reflect a rate of provision of 0.08 hectares per 1,000 new residents in SLS Precinct.

The inclusion of the publicly-accessible pocket parks (approximately 2,900 square metres) would only marginally increase the rate of provision to 0.15 hectares per 1,000 new residents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ibid., p 45

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The final delineation of the proposed park area includes 10 house lots, 4 of which are narrow lots containing semidetached dwellings (i.e. effectively 8 regular-sized house lots)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The broader precinct comprising the area bounded by Pacific Highway, Greenwich Road, River Road and the North Shire Rail Line

<sup>8</sup> St Leonards South Draft Masterplan, p19

The development will, even with the proposed open space in this plan, result in a diminution of the quantum of open space enjoyed by each resident of the surrounding area. However, this reduction in the rate of provision of open space has to be weighed with the advantages of providing substantial additional housing opportunities close to public transport. In this case, Council has decided that the reduced provision is reasonable given the following additional provisions.

Council's approach to meeting future open space demands in the precinct, consistent with the DCP and the Landscape Master Plan, is as follows:

- Council to acquire and embellish 0.37ha of land for a centralised local park in the west of the precinct as a recreation destination for nearby developments and as a western anchor to the east-west pedestrian connections.
- Provide new east-west pedestrian access ways (0.26ha) to enable future residents to easily
  access the existing eastern park. These connections will be provided by various developers
  in exchange for granting of bonus floor space on the residual developable portion of their
  land.
- Council to embellish 0.24ha of land at the southern end of Holdsworth Avenue and Berry Road to create pocket parks.
- Developers will provide 0.17ha of pocket parks at the northern end of the precinct in exchange for granting of bonus floor space on the residual developable portion of their land.
- Developers will provide 24m wide 'Green Spines' in the rear setbacks of apartment buildings with reciprocal rights of pedestrian access between developments. This privately- managed, publicly-accessible pedestrian network is designed to complement the existing streets to create a more permeable north-south pedestrian network.

The configuration of the planned social infrastructure components is shown in **Figure 7**. This proposed array of facilities complements the planned access network shown in **Figure 9**.

In addition, open space is currently or planned to be available at:

- 0.5ha rail plaza
- 1 ha Newlands Park
- 3.3ha Gore Hill Oval
- 2.1ha Smoothey Park
- 0.09ha Propsting Reserve

Proposed concept plans and outline specifications of the proposed open spaces to be delivered using section 94 contributions are included in the St Leonards South Landscape Master Plan, and in the quantity surveyor's report in **Appendix B**.



Source: St Leonards South Draft Landscape Master Plan

#### Figure 7 Planned open space network

#### Nexus and apportionment

The demographic characteristics of a development area are important in understanding the future social infrastructure needs of that area. A major change in land use, such as the change from low density residential to high density residential will generate new social infrastructure demands relevant to the characteristics of the expected population (**Section 3.1.4**)

The need for the proposed social infrastructure included in this plan is generated by the expected development in the SLS Precinct. The contribution rates for social infrastructure are therefore calculated on the assumption that the full cost of the infrastructure is shared among the expected development.

#### **Contribution rates calculation**

**Table 6** below summarises the social infrastructure costs and contributions. A detailed breakdown of these costs can be found in **Appendix B**.

	Cost	Contribution per additional resident
Land acquisition	\$30,047,500	\$6,908.27
Works (essential works)	\$4,320,572	\$993.35
Works (non essential works)	\$2,808,000	\$645.59

#### Table 6 Summary of social infrastructure costs and contributions

10735 SLS Precinct s94 plan 17

Contribution rates are calculated on the expected net additional resident population in the area. This involves dividing the total costs of land acquisition and capital works by the projected total number of residents that are expected will live in the SLS Precinct.

The contribution formula for social infrastructure can be expressed as:

Contribution per resident (\$) = 
$$\sum \left( \frac{\$INF}{P} \right)$$

Where:

- \$INF = the estimated cost, or if the facility has been completed, the indexed actual cost, of providing each of the social infrastructure items required to meet the development of the SLS Precinct (refer **Table 6**).
- P = The expected total number of residents that will generate the demand for the social infrastructure (i.e. 4,350).

To determine the total contribution that would apply to a proposed development, multiply the contribution rate by the proposed net additional residents in the proposed development.

To determine the contribution rate per dwelling, multiply the contribution rate by the relevant assumed occupancy rate shown in **Table 4**.

# 3.2.2 Roads and drainage

# **Objectives**

The objectives for planning for access in the precinct are as follows:

- (a) Achieve a more permeable network promoting greater connectivity and integration between residential and the station and commercial precincts
- (b) Achieve a safe and convenient pedestrian environment that encourages walkability, public transport use and social interaction
- (c) Create additional streets and paths that will:
  - i. Reduce pressure on the existing road and pedestrian infrastructure
  - ii. Provide new opportunities for pedestrian connectivity.9

# Needs assessments and infrastructure strategy

The access strategy is focused on providing effective pedestrian and cycle connections to and from the surrounding areas, particularly the St Leonards Station transport hub and the adjoining Newlands Park to the east.

Planning for the future traffic needs of the precinct are essential to meet the demand associated with the increased residential density.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> St Leonards South Draft Development Control Plan

An assessment of the traffic impacts of planned SLS Precinct and other anticipated developments in the surrounding area was carried out by TEF Consulting.<sup>10</sup> That assessment concluded that 'the modelling results indicate that a number of relatively minor improvements would be required as a result of general growth of network traffic, LEP 2009 developments and the proposed St Leonards South Master Plan development'.<sup>11</sup>

Two of the recommended traffic improvements in the SLS Precinct are:

- the removal of the roundabout at the corner of Berry Road and Marshall Avenue
- a new street connecting Berry and Park Roads.

These works, which are shown in the extract of the map from the TEF report (**Figure 8**), have been included in this plan's works schedule.



Source: TEF Consulting, p9

#### Figure 8 Recommended traffic works

The TEF assessment was primarily concerned with the satisfactory functioning of the road network, and not the ability for existing road assets to accommodate increased traffic loads over time.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> St Leonards South – A Report on Traffic Impacts of Large Scale Developments on Pacific Highway, prepared for Lane Cove Council by TEF Consulting, 24 April 2017
 <sup>11</sup> Ibid., p20

Council staff have reviewed the likely impacts on existing roads that will be subject to a wholesale redevelopment of a relatively concentrated area. They have identified that:

- Daily traffic loads on the street network within the SLS Precinct are likely to increase from around 1,100 to 8,400 vehicles per day at full development<sup>12</sup>
- Elevated numbers of heavy vehicles disproportionately impacting on the condition of the road pavements throughout the construction period.

These likely impacts will require the reconstruction of the pavements in Holdsworth Avenue and Berry Road, and resurfacing of Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue.

To achieve the objectives for safe and convenient access for the SLS Precinct developments, the following will be required to be provided:

- Upgrading and reconstruction of existing roadways
- Removal of roundabout at junction of Marshall Avenue and Berry Street
- A new public road connecting Berry and Park Roads
- Accommodation of additional alternative transport modes on roadways, such as bicycles etc.

The proposed access network for the area is shown in **Figure 9**, including the proposed new roads and shareways.



Source: St Leonards South Draft Landscape Master Plan

#### Figure 9 Planned access network

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Based on daily traffic generation of 8.5 vehicle trips per dwelling house and 3.5 vehicle trips per high density apartment – rates that are generally consistent with the NSW RTA Guide to Traffic Generating Developments 2002

The infrastructure will be provided by various planning mechanisms, as described in **Table 5**.

Section 94 contributions imposed and collected under this plan will be used to:

- provide a new access road between Park Road and Berry Road
- reconstruct the streets that service land in the centre of the precinct which will be the focus
  of much of the redevelopment activity
- resurface streets on the eastern perimeter of the precinct that will also serve the redevelopment sites.

The new access road will have a profile similar to that shown in **Figure 10**. This reflects the specification in Council's DCP.



Source: St Leonards South Draft Development Control Plan

#### Figure 10 New road cross-section

#### Nexus and apportionment

The anticipated SLS Precinct development should be accountable for the full cost of delivering the new street environments because the works are needed to provide extra capacity for the additional population and to mitigate the impact of the new development and the significantly increased population in the area.

The proposed new road between Berry Road and Park Road is needed to enable traffic to move from existing roads within the precinct to River Road. This will eliminate traffic being required to travel via the Pacific Highway which is congested at peak times.

The scope of this work includes a portion of demolition of existing dwellings, 6m wide road corridor including road bases, asphaltic concrete, dish drains, stormwater, subsoil drainage, street lighting, footpath and street trees.

The sections of Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue south of Marshall Avenue need to be reconstructed because the existing road is very old, was not built for high density urban development, and will likely be extensively damaged when building proposed dwellings and laying augmented underground service road crossings.

The scope for the reconstruction works includes traffic and pedestrian management, demolition of the existing road from kerb to kerb, demolition of the existing roundabout on Berry Road, 10.5m wide road corridor including road bases, asphaltic concrete, kerb and gutter, stormwater drainage, subsoil drainage and street lighting.

The perimeter streets - Canberra Avenue, Duntroon Avenue, Marshall Avenue and Park Road - need to be resurfaced because of the extra traffic that will result from the redevelopment. The scope for this work includes drainage, milling and re-sheeting 40mm asphaltic concrete.

The need for all of the access infrastructure is generated by the expected development in the SLS Precinct. The contribution rates are therefore calculated on the assumption that the full cost of the infrastructure is shared among the expected development.

# **Contribution rates calculation**

**Table 7** below summarises the roads, traffic and drainage infrastructure costs and contributions.A detailed breakdown of these costs can be found in **Appendix B**.

#### Table 7 Summary of roads, traffic and drainage infrastructure costs

	Cost	Contribution per additional resident
Land acquisition	\$7,520,460	\$1,729.04
Construction	\$8,846,968	\$2,034.02

Contribution rates are calculated on the expected residential population in the area. This involves dividing the total costs of land acquisition and capital works by the projected total number of residents that are expected will live and work in the SLS Precinct.

The contribution formula for roads, traffic and drainage infrastructure can be expressed as:

Contribution per resident (\$) = 
$$\sum \left( \frac{\$INF}{P} \right)$$

Where:

- \$INF = the estimated cost, or if the facility has been completed, the indexed actual cost, of providing each of the roads, traffic and drainage infrastructure items required to meet the development of the SLS Precinct (refer **Table 7**).
- P = The expected total number of residents that will generate the demand for the roads, traffic and drainage infrastructure (i.e. 4,350).

To determine the total contribution that would apply to a proposed development, multiply the contribution rate by the proposed net additional residents in the proposed development.

To determine the contribution rate per dwelling, multiply the contribution rate by the relevant assumed occupancy rate shown in **Table 4**.

# 3.2.3 Plan administration

#### **Objectives**

The section 94 contributions plan will likely take many years to implement. There will be a need to monitor and update the assumptions underpinning this plan so that the contribution rates remain reasonable.

# Strategy

This plan has been prepared in order to allow contributions to be levied on development so that infrastructure demands can be satisfied. The costs that Council has incurred in this regard include the commissioning of external experts to prepare the plan text and works schedules.

Additionally, Council is required to manage, monitor and maintain the contributions plan. The effective coordination and administration of the plan will involve many tasks, some of which include the following:

- Monitoring the receipt of contributions.
- Recommending to Council the appropriate management and expenditure of funds in accordance with the adopted works schedules.
- Monitoring and programming works identified in the works schedules.
- Determining the appropriate time for provision of public facilities having regard to the works schedule, the availability of funds, demand generated by development, the time funds have been held, expected additional funds, alternative and supplementary funding sources and maintenance implications.
- Assessing whether a credit or reassessment of the contribution may be appropriate and how that may be determined.
- Reviewing and determining the suitability of any works in kind and material public benefits proposed by a developer.
- Preparing and making available the accountability information as required by the EP&A Regulation.
- Providing advice to applicants and the general public regarding the operation of the plan.
- Commissioning of consultant studies and advice in relation to the efficacy of the development and demand assumptions of the contributions plan.

# Nexus, apportionment and contribution rates calculation

As plan administration costs arise directly as a result of the future development, it is reasonable that the costs associated with preparing and administering this plan be recouped through contributions from development in that area. Costs associated with the ongoing administration and management of the contributions plan will be levied on all applications that are required to make a contribution under this plan.

Costs included in this plan for management and administration are determined based on the IPART benchmark<sup>13</sup> of an allowance equivalent to 1.5% of the cost of construction works identified in this plan.

# Table 8 Summary of plan administration costs and contributions

	Cost	Contribution per additional resident
Plan administration costs (1.5% of the total works schedule cost that is apportioned to development in the plan - IPART benchmark)	\$197,513	\$45.41

To determine the total contribution that would apply to a proposed development, multiply the contribution rate by the proposed net additional residents in the proposed development.

To determine the contribution rate per dwelling, multiply the contribution rate by the relevant assumed occupancy rate shown in **Table 4**.

# 3.3 Infrastructure costs

The following sources have been used to determine the estimated costs of Local Infrastructure included in this plan:

- Letter from Hill PDA to Lane Cove Council titled 'St Leonards South Precinct S94 Parkland / Open Space Acquisition Rate Advice' and dated 12 July 2017
- 'St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Estimate' prepared by Mitchell Brandtman and dated 23 September 2017
- 'St Leonards South Landscape Master Plan Report' prepared by Oculus and dated September 2017
- Lane Cove Council, road reserve, typical detail drawing
- Local Infrastructure Benchmark Costs Final Report prepared by IPART and dated April 2014.

# 3.4 Infrastructure staging

Once an infill area is zoned for redevelopment there are very limited mechanisms to regulate the location or timing of individual developments.

Sales of sites will take place at different rates, and site amalgamation which is critical to the realisation of the overall SLS Precinct infrastructure scheme will proceed at different and variable rates. The timing of section 94 contributions that are made as development proceeds is thus uncertain.

Because of the above, it is difficult for the Council to determine with any certainty the various items of Local Infrastructure included in this plan will be delivered.

The following represent the council's views on timing and priority at the time the plan was prepared:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of New South Wales (2014), *Local Infrastructure Benchmark Costs*, page 63

- Land acquisitions will preferably be pursued by negotiation with respective land owners. Compulsory acquisition will only be used if all negotiation avenues are exhausted.
- A high priority in the application of section 94 funds will be assigned to creating the new access road between Berry Road and Park Road.
- An equal high priority will be assigned to the gradual acquisition of the land required for the local park. It is expected that sufficient funds to embellish the local park land will not be available until the development has achieved at least 1,500 dwellings.
- The proposed road reconstruction and resurfacing works will be programmed to the latter stages of the SLS Precinct development when peak construction activity and the movement of heavy vehicles associated with development construction has passed.
- Other considerations, such as utilities' properties (Sydney Water; Energy Australia); availability of acquisition funds; construction traffic; land sales; road reconstruction; etc

# 4. How and when will contributions be imposed on developments?

# 4.1 Monetary contributions

This plan authorises the Council or an accredited certifier, when determining an application for development or an application for a CDC, and subject to other provisions of this plan, to impose a condition requiring a contribution under section 94 of the EP&A Act on that approval for:

- the provision, extension or augmentation of Local Infrastructure to be provided by Council; and / or
- the recoupment of the previous costs incurred by Council in providing existing Local Infrastructure.

Accredited certifiers should also refer to **Section 4.6** of this plan as to their obligations in assessing and determining applications.

# 4.2 Land contributions

This plan authorises the consent authority, other than an accredited certifier<sup>14</sup>, when granting consent to an application to carry out development to which this plan applies, to impose a condition under section 94(1) of the EP&A Act requiring the dedication of land free of cost to Council for the provision, extension or augmentation of Local Infrastructure to be provided by Council.

Wherever land required under this plan (refer **Figure 11** and **Table 9**) is situated within a development site, the consent authority will generally require the developer of that land to dedicate the land required under this plan free of cost.

The value of this land will be considered in determining the total monetary contributions required to be made by the development under this plan. Council may at its discretion offset the value of the land against the total monetary contributions. Only land ascribed a value under this plan shall be entitled to an offset.

Street address	Real property description
Local park	
16 Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 48, Section 3, DP 111237
18 Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 1, DP 586272
18A Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 2, DP 586272
19 Berry Road, St Leonards	Lot 15, DP 814988
20 Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 46, DP 1103247
21 Berry Road, St Leonards	Lot 16, Section 3, DP 111237
22 Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 1, DP 195104

# Table 9 Summary of land required for Local Infrastructure

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Note: the EP&A Act does not allow an accredited certifier other than a Council to impose a condition requiring the dedication of land free of cost.

# St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan Lane Cove Council

Street address	Real property description
23 Berry Road, St Leonards	Lot 17, DP 1214016
24 Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 45, DP 76740
25 Berry Road, St Leonards	Lot 1, DP 85378
Local road	
36 Park Road, St Leonards	Lot 2, DP 305449
39 Berry Road, St Leonards	Lot 24, Section 3, DP 3044



# Figure 11 Land within SLS Precinct required to be acquired by Council under the LEP

# 4.3 Cap on monetary section 94 contributions for residential development

On 21 August 2012 the Minister for Planning issued a Direction to Council that caps section 94 contributions for residential development.

The Direction requires, in terms of residential developments proposed on land in the SLS Precinct:

A council (or planning panel) must not grant development consent ... subject to a condition under section 94 (1) or (3) of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 requiring the payment of a monetary contribution that:

(a) in the case of a development consent that authorises one or more dwellings, exceeds \$20,000 for each dwelling authorised by the consent, or

(b) in the case of a development consent that authorises subdivision into residential lots, exceeds \$20,000 for each residential lot authorised to be created by the development consent.

The contribution rates for larger dwellings in the SLS Precinct will exceed this cap. If the cap is applied to all of the expected development in the precinct, the anticipated shortfall in funding of essential works would be approximately \$9.1 million in 2017 dollars.

The State Government announced in June 2017 that it will be removing the cap on section 94 contributions. The Acting Secretary of the Department of Planning and Environment has advised councils<sup>15</sup> that:

- a threshold will be established consistent with the existing caps at \$30,000 in greenfield areas and \$20,000 in infill areas
- in areas where a contributions plan is proposed that exceeds the thresholds, the council will be able to have the plan assessed by IPART which will assess the contributions rates for essential works
- Once the assessment is finalised, the council has adopted a final plan, and the Minister for Planning (or the Minister's delegate) has advised the council of the outcome, a council will be able to charge the full contribution amount as a condition of development consent.

Council intends to have this contributions plan assessed under the IPART review process. Until that process is completed and the Minister has advised Council of the full contribution rate that can be imposed on developments, then despite the rates shown in **Table 2** of this plan the contribution that is to be levied on residential development in SLS Precinct shall not exceed the cap.

# 4.4 **Contributions to only reflect net increase in infrastructure demands**

In order for contributions to be reasonable, the consent authority shall only impose a section 94 contribution on a development that reflects the net increase in the demand for Local Infrastructure included in this plan.

The net increase in infrastructure demand is calculated by determining the subtracting the existing resident population of the development site from expected resident population of the proposed development using the assumptions contained in **Table 4** of this plan. Any existing resident population on a development site shall be assumed to have an infrastructure demand credit.

# 4.5 Latest rates to be used

The section 94 contribution imposed on a development will reflect the latest, indexed contributions rates authorised by this plan.

The monetary section 94 contribution rates shown in **Table 2** reflect the contribution rates at the date that this plan commenced. These rates are regularly adjusted for inflation and fluctuations in land values (see **Section 6.3**).

Applicants and accredited certifiers should inquire at the Council for information on the latest contribution rates.

# 4.6 **Obligations of accredited certifiers**

# 4.6.1 Complying development certificates

This plan requires that, in relation to an application made to an accredited certifier for a CDC:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> DPE Planning Circular PS 17-02, dated 27 July 2017

- the accredited certifier must, if a CDC is issued, impose a condition requiring a monetary contribution, if such a contribution is authorised by this plan
- the amount of the monetary contribution that the accredited certifier must so impose is the amount determined in accordance with this section
- the terms of the condition be in accordance with this section.

# Procedure for determining the contribution amount

The procedure for an accredited certifier to determine the amount of the section 94 monetary contribution for complying development is as follows:

- 1. If, and only if specified in writing in the application for a CDC, the applicant has requested a credit under section 94(6) of the EP&A Act such as that envisaged in **Section 4.4** of this plan, or an exemption or part or the whole of the development under **Section 2.5** of this plan, the accredited certifier must:
  - (a) make a request in writing to the Council for the Council's advice on whether the request is granted, or the extent to which it is granted; and
  - (b) in calculating the monetary contribution, comply with the Council's written advice or if no such advice has been received prior to the granting of the CDC refuse the applicant's request.
- Determine the unadjusted contributions in accordance with the rates included in Table 2 of this plan taking into account any exempted development specified in Section 2.5 and any advice issued by the Council under paragraph 1(b) above.
- 3. Adjust the calculated contribution in accordance with **Section 6.3** to reflect the indexed cost of the provision of infrastructure.
- 4. Subtract any infrastructure demand credit advised by the Council under paragraph 1(b) for any assumed Local Infrastructure demand relating to existing development.

# Terms of a section 94 condition

The terms of the condition required by this section are as follows:

#### **Contribution**

The developer must make a monetary contribution to Lane Cove Council in the amount of \$[insert amount] for the purposes of the Local Infrastructure identified in the St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan.

- Land	<pre>\$[insert amount]</pre>
- Works	\$[insert amount]
- Land	\$[insert amount]
- Works	\$[insert amount]
	\$[insert amount]
	- Works - Land

10735 SLS Precinct s94 plan 29

# Indexation

The monetary contribution must be indexed between the date of this certificate and the date of payment in accordance with the following formula:

Where:

\$Cc is the contribution amount shown in this certificate expressed in dollars

*CPI*<sub>P</sub> is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney as published by the Australian Statistician at the time of the payment of the contribution

 $CPI_C$  is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney as published by the Australian Statistician which applied at the time of the issue of this certificate

Note: The contribution payable will not be less than the contribution specified in this certificate.

# Time for payment

The contribution must be paid prior to any work authorised by this complying development certificate commences, as required by section 136L of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000.

Deferred payments of contributions may be accepted in certain circumstances and will need to be secured by bank guarantee. Refer to the contributions plan for Council's policy on deferred payments.

# Works in kind agreement

This condition does not need to be complied with to the extent specified in any planning agreement of works in kind agreement entered into between the developer and the Council.

# 4.6.2 Construction certificates

It is the responsibility of an accredited certifier issuing a construction certificate for building work or subdivision work to ensure that each condition requiring the payment of a monetary contribution before work is carried out has been complied with in accordance with the CDC or development consent.

The accredited certifier must ensure that the applicant provides a receipt (or receipts) confirming that contributions have been fully paid and copies of such receipts must be included with copies of the certified plans provided to the Council in accordance with section 142(2) of the EP&A Regulation. Failure to follow this procedure may render such a certificate invalid and expose the certifier to legal action.

The only exceptions to the requirement are where a work in kind, material public benefit, dedication of land and / or deferred payment arrangement has been agreed by the Council. In

such cases the Council will issue a letter confirming that an alternative payment method has been agreed with the applicant.

#### 4.7 Variation to contributions authorised by this plan

The consent authority, other than a private accredited certifier, may, after considering a written application, reduce the section 94 contribution otherwise calculated in accordance with the provisions of this plan.

A developer's request for variation to a contribution calculated in accordance with this plan must be supported by written justification included with the development application. Such request will be considered as part of the assessment of the application.

An accredited certifier other than the Council cannot vary a section 94 contribution calculated in accordance with this plan, without Council's written approval.

# 5. How and when can a contribution requirement be settled?

# 5.1 Timing of payments

A monetary contribution required to be paid by a condition imposed on the development consent in accordance with this plan is to be paid at the time specified in the condition.

Generally, the condition will provide for payment as follows:

- For development where no further approvals area required before the development consent is issued.
- For development involving subdivision the contribution must be paid prior to the release of the subdivision certificate (linen plan).
- For development not involving subdivision, but where a construction certificate is required, the contribution must be paid prior to the release of the construction certificate for any works authorising construction above the floor level of the ground floor.
- For works authorised under a CDC, the contributions are to be paid prior to any work authorised by the certificate commences, as required by section 136L of the EP&A Regulation.

At the time of payment, it will be necessary for monetary contributions amounts to be updated in accordance with the relevant indexes (see **Section 6.3**).

# 5.2 **Process for deferred payments**

Council may accept a written request for the deferred or periodic payment of a section 94 contribution if the applicant (including any other person entitled to act upon the relevant consent) satisfies Council that:

- Compliance with the provisions relating to when contributions are payable is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case, or would cause the applicant undue hardship, and
- Deferred or periodic payment will not prejudice the timing or the manner of the provision of the Local Infrastructure for which the contribution was required.

The decision to accept a deferred or periodic payment is at the sole discretion of Council.

Council may, if it decides to accept the deferred or periodic payment of a contribution, require the applicant to provide a bank guarantee by an Australian bank for the amount of the contribution, or the outstanding balance, plus any interest or charges required by Council, on condition that:

- (a) the bank guarantee requires the bank to pay the guaranteed amount unconditionally to Council if the applicant has defaulted on the payment of the contribution, or any instalment of the contribution (including interest and Council charges), under the terms of their deferred or periodic payment agreement with Council,
- (b) the bank's obligation under the guarantee is discharged:
  - i. when payment is made to Council in accordance with the terms of the bank guarantee, or

- ii. if the related consent lapses, or
- iii. if Council otherwise notifies the bank in writing that the bank guarantee is no longer required, and
- (c) the applicant pays to Council:
  - i. interest on the contribution, or the outstanding balance, at the overdraft rate on and from the date when the contribution would have been otherwise payable, and
  - ii. an administration charge of 1% on the contribution, or the outstanding balance, at the end of each six-monthly period,

such payments to be made when each instalment of the contribution is due.

Where Council agrees to a request for deferred or periodic payment, the applicant will be required to lodge a section 96 application to modify the development consent to specify the new payment arrangements.

# 5.3 Can the contribution be settled by dedicating land or undertake works?

A person may make an offer to the Council to carry out works or provide another kind of material public benefit or dedicate land, in part or full satisfaction of a section 94 contribution required by a condition of consent imposed under this plan.

If a developer wishes to deliver infrastructure that is included in this plan instead of the Council delivering that infrastructure, then the developer can approach this either one of two ways:

- (a) The developer may offer to enter into a planning agreement to undertake works, make monetary contributions, dedicate land, or provide some other material public benefit. Planning agreements are the most appropriate mechanism for offers made prior to the issue of a development consent for the development.
- (b) If the developer has already received a development consent containing a condition requiring a section 94 contribution, the developer may offer to undertake works in kind through a works in kind agreement, or offer to dedicate land through a land dedication agreement.

Any offer of works or land should be consistent with the LEP and DCP for St Leonards South as associated with this Plan.

# 5.3.1 Offers and agreements generally

Any offer for works in kind or other material public benefit shall be made in writing to the Council prior to the commencement of any works proposed as part of that offer. Retrospective works in kind agreements will not be accepted.

Works in kind or the dedication of land will be accepted by Council only under the following circumstances:

 Council will generally only accept offers of works or land that are items included in the schedule of Local Infrastructure in this plan; and
- Council determines that the works in kind are, or the land to be dedicated is, appropriate; and
- The value of the works to be undertaken or the land to be dedicated is at least equal to the value of the contribution assessed in accordance with this plan, or where the value of the proposed works in kind or the land to be dedicated is less than the monetary value of the contribution, the difference will be met by way of a monetary contribution.

In assessing the request, Council will consider the following:

- Consistency with the detailed design of the facilities, as agreed to by Council
- The proposed works or land dedication will not constrain the future provision of facilities identified in the works schedule, or conflict with what Council has prioritised.

Plans and cost estimates of the proposed works, or a valuation by a registered valuer of the land to be dedicated, are to be prepared and submitted by the applicant.

Should an offer of works in kind or land dedication be accepted, Council will negotiate with the applicant, as relevant, the following:

- An acceptable standard for workmanship and materials
- Timing of inspection of works in progress
- A program for completion of the works or dedication of the land
- An appropriate defects liability period.

The decision to accept settlement of a contribution by way of works in kind or the dedication of land is at the sole discretion of Council.

## 5.3.2 Reimbursement of land and works values in excess of contribution requirements

Council will consider reimbursing an applicant who provides works in kind in excess of the monetary contribution payable by their development, under the following circumstances:

- The works in kind provided by the development are for a facility that is identified in this contributions plan and for which the development would have been required to pay a contribution.
- The amount of the reimbursement is limited to the value of the facility identified in the contributions plan, adjusted to reflect cost changes over time as allowed by this plan.
- The reimbursement will be drawn only from the monies available in the same contributions fund from which the facility would have normally been funded (i.e. monies available in the St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan).

Where Council agrees to reimburse an applicant over a period of time the applicant will be required to enter into a deed of agreement with Council to establish the arrangements under which the reimbursement will be made.

#### 6. Other administration matters

#### 6.1 Relationship of this plan to other contributions plans

The Lane Cove Section 94 Contributions Plan 1996 does not apply to land to which this plan applies.

This plan however does not affect development consents applying to land in the SLS Precinct containing requirements for developments to make contributions under Lane Cove Section 94 Contributions Plan 1996.

Contributions imposed on developments under Lane Cove Section 94 Contributions Plan 1996 and paid to Council will be applied to the specific Local Infrastructure described in that plan.

#### 6.2 Savings and transitional arrangements

This plan applies to a development application or application for a CDC that was submitted but not yet determined on the date on which this plan took effect.

#### 6.3 Adjustment of contributions to address the effects of inflation

To ensure that the value of contributions for the construction and delivery of infrastructure is not eroded over time by inflation or significant changes in land values, this plan authorises that contribution rates and the contribution amounts included in consents will be adjusted over time.

#### 6.3.1 Contribution rates in this plan

Council will - without the necessity of preparing a new or amending contributions plan - make changes to the contribution rates set out in this plan to reflect quarterly movements in the value of land acquisition and works.

The Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney, as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, will be used to update the contribution rates for works and for land that has already been acquired by the Council in anticipation of development.

The Established House Price Index for Sydney, as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics, will be used to update the contribution rates for land that is yet to be acquired by the Council.

#### 6.3.2 Contribution amounts in consents

A monetary contribution amount required by a condition of development consent imposed in accordance with this plan will be indexed between the date of the grant of the consent and the date on which the contribution is paid in accordance with quarterly movements in the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney as published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics.

#### 6.4 **Pooling of contributions funds**

This plan authorises monetary contributions paid for different purposes in accordance with development consent conditions authorised by this plan and any other contributions plan approved by the Council to be pooled and applied progressively for those purposes.

The priorities for the expenditure of pooled monetary contributions under this plan are the priorities for works as set out in **Section 3.4** of this plan.

#### 6.5 Accountability and access to information

In accordance with the EP&A Act and EP&A Regulation a contributions register will be maintained by Council and may be inspected upon request.

The register will be maintained at regular intervals and will include the following:

- Particulars sufficient to identify each development consent for which contributions have been sought
- Nature and extent of the contribution required by the relevant condition of consent
- Name of the contributions plan under which the condition of consent was imposed
- Date the contribution was received, for what purpose and the amount.

Separate accounting records will be maintained for each contribution type in this plan and published every year in Council's financial accounts. They will contain details concerning contributions received and expended, including interest for each service or amenity to be provided. The records are held at Council's Administration Office and may be inspected upon request.

St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan Lane Cove Council

### **APPENDIX A**

Infrastructure schedule and location map

#### ST LEONARDS SOUTH SECTION 94 CONTRIBUTIONS PLAN INFRASTRUCTURE SCHEDULE

ltem	Qty	Unit	Rate	Dire	ect Construction Costs	Indirect	truction Costs argin		Design, Professional Fees and Council On-Costs			Contingency			Total
Land Acquisition															
Social infrastructure															
Local Park	3,500	m²	\$ 8,500.00	\$	29,750,000.00		N/A	1%	\$	297,500.00			N/A	\$	30,047,500.00
Roads & drainage															
New Road (linking Park Road and Berry Road)	876	m²	\$ 8,500.00	\$	7,446,000.00		N/A	1%	\$	74,460.00			N/A	\$	7,520,460.00
				<i>b</i>	27 40 5 000 00				*	274.000.00		*		*	
Sub Total				\$	37,196,000.00		\$ -		\$	371,960.00		\$	-	\$	37,567,960.00
Works															
Social infrastructure															
Local Park	3,500	m²	\$ 552.00	\$	1,930,304.00	18%	\$ 347,455.00	15%	\$	289,546.00	20%	\$	386,061.00	\$	2,953,366.00
Pocket Parks (x2)	2,345	m²	\$ 381.00	\$	893,598.00	18%	\$ 160,848.00	15%	\$	134,040.00	20%	\$	178,720.00	\$	1,367,206.00
Fit-out to community facilities (2 x 450m <sup>2</sup> child care facilities, 2 x 150m <sup>2</sup> community facilities)	1,200	m²	\$ 1,500.00	\$	1,800,000.00	21%	\$ 378,000.00	20%	\$	360,000.00	15%	\$	270,000.00	\$	2,808,000.00
Roads & drainage															
Berry Road	320	m	\$ 5,197.00	\$	1,662,921.00	23%	\$ 382,472.00	15%	\$	249,438.00	30%	\$	498,876.00	\$	2,793,707.00
Holdsworth Avenue	310	m	\$ 4,974.00	\$	1,541,971.00	23%	\$ 354,653.00	15%	\$	231,296.00	30%	\$	462,591.00	\$	2,590,511.00
New Road (linking Park Road and Berry Road)	84	m	\$ 6,973.00	\$	585,709.00	23%	\$ 134,713.00	15%	\$	87,856.00	30%	\$	175,713.00	\$	983,991.00
Resurfacing Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue	720	m	\$ 1,555.00	\$	1,119,944.00	8%	\$ 89,596.00	5%	\$	55,997.00	30%	\$	335,983.00	\$	1,601,520.00
Resurfacing Park Road and Marshall Avenue	465	m	\$ 1,319.00	\$	613,454.00	8%	\$ 49,076.00	5%	\$	30,673.00	30%	\$	184,036.00	\$	877,239.00
Sub Total				\$	10,147,901.00		\$ 1,896,813.00		\$	1,438,846.00		\$	2,491,980.00	\$	15,975,540.00
Total				\$	47,343,901.00		\$ 1,896,813.00		\$	1,810,806.00		\$	2,491,980.00	\$	53,543,500.00



#### **INFRASTRUCTURE LOCATION MAP**

St Leonards South Precinct Section 94 Contributions Plan Lane Cove Council

# APPENDIX B Detailed cost estimates report

# **Mitchell**Brandtman

5D Quantity Surveyors & Construction Expert Opinion

# St Leonards South Precinct – Section 9 Contributions Estimate

St Leonards South Precinct – Section 94 Contributions Estimate

Prepared for:

**GLN Planning** 

Matthew Kritzler Associate <u>mkritzler@mitbrand.com</u> 02 9541 8000 10<sup>th</sup> October 2017 Issue 1.0

#### 1 INTRODUCTION

As requested, we have prepared an estimate of Section 94 contribution costs to undertake the public infrastructure works in connection with proposed rezoning of the St Leonards South Precinct.

The estimate is based on Oculus Master Plan Report dated June 2017 and documentation and discussions with Lane Cove Council.

The Section 94 contribution costs include the following;

- Land acquisition pertaining to the new local park and link road between Berry Road and Park Road,
- Local park between Berry Road and Park Road,
- Pocket parks at the end of Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue,
- Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue upgrades,
- New link road between Berry Road and Park Road,
- Resurfacing Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue including new stormwater drainage, kerb and gutter and street light to proposed development frontages,
- Resurfacing half road development frontage in Park Road and Marshall Avenue including new stormwater drainage, kerb and gutter and street light to development frontage.

#### 2 INFORMATION USED

The following documentation and information has been used in the preparation of the Section 94 Contributions Estimate;

- Oculus Master Plan Report dated September 2017,
- Lane Cove Council, road reserve, typical detail drawing,
- Lane Cove Council, St Leonards South DRAFT Special Provision Area drawings and table,
- Hill PDA Consulting St Leonards South Precinct S.94 Parkland / Open Space Acquisition Rate Advice letter dated 12 July 2017,
- IPART Local Infrastructure Benchmark Costs Final Report, dated April 2014.

#### 3 SCOPE OF WORKS

The following table details the scope of direct construction costs included in the Section 94 Contributions Estimate;

Table 1 – Direct Construction Costs

LAND ACQUIS	ITION									
Land Acquisition	Land values provided by Lane Cove Council have been used. The values have been applied to the new local park and the new link road between Berry Road and Park Road.									
LOCAL OPEN	PARKS									
	Requirements have been estimated based on Oculus' 'Option 3 – Combined Approach' for the proposed new park between Berry Road and Park Road.									
Local Park	The area of the park is 3,766m <sup>2</sup> , consis <mark>ting</mark> of 3,500m <sup>2</sup> of acquired lots and 266m <sup>2</sup> of Berry Lane.									
	Scope includes demolition of existing dwellings and laneway, stripping, clearing and grubbing area, new concrete footpaths, play equipment, softfall, shade, pergola, bubbler, turf, planting, trees, lighting, picnic tables and rubbish bins. Refer to Mitchell Brandtman detailed estimate for full details of inclusions.									
	Requirements have been estimated based on Oculus' Masterplan Plan drawings.									
Pocket Parks (end of Berry	The combined area of the pocket parks is 2,445m <sup>2</sup> . This land is currently council land.									
Road and Holdsworth Avenue)	Scope includes demolition of existing footpath and stairs, stripping, clearing and grubbing area, new concrete footpaths, stairs and balustrades, retaining walls, turf, planting, trees.									
	Refer to Mitchell Brandtman detailed estimate for full details of inclusions.									
COMMUNITY F	ACILITIES									
Fit-out of Community Facilities	Requirements have been based on instructions from Lane Cove Council. The new facilities have been proposed to be delivered under planning agreements with developers. Council has included cost for the fit-out of these facilities only based on works they have recently undertaken.									
	Scope includes for the fit-out of two 450m <sup>2</sup> child care facilities and the fit-out of two 150m <sup>2</sup> community facilities.									

ROADS									
	Requirements have been estimated based on Lane Cove Council, road reserve, typical detail drawing. A new road has been included in these two locations as the existing road is very old, not built for the traffic loading expected in medium and high density areas and will likely be extensively damaged during the development construction phase and when laying augmented underground service road crossings.								
Upgrade of Berry Road	Scope includes traffic and pedestrian management, demolition of the existing road from kerb to kerb, demolition of the existing round-about on Berry Road, 10.5m wide road corridor including road bases, asphaltic concrete, kerb and gutter, stormwater,								
and Holdsworth Avenue	subsoil drainage and street lighting. The road carriageway is to be 10.5m consisting of 2 x 3m travel lanes, 2 x 2.1m parking lanes including gutter and 2 x 0.15mm kerbs. The composition is to be 50mm select fill subgrade, 150mm DGS20 subbase, 150mm DGB20 base and 100mm asphaltic concrete.								
	Street trees, turf, footpaths, line marking, signage have been excluded.								
	Refer to Mitchell Brandtman detailed estimate for full details of inclusions.								
	Requirements have been estimated based on Oculus Masterplan. A new road has been included to enable traffic to move from existing roads within the precinct to River Road. This will eliminate traffic being required to travel via the Pacific Highway.								
	The area of the new link road is 938m <sup>2</sup> , consisting of 876m <sup>2</sup> of acquired lots and 62m <sup>2</sup> of Berry Lane.								
New Link Road Between Berry Road and Park	Scope includes a portion of demolition of existing dwellings, 6m wide road carriageways including road bases, asphaltic concrete, dish drains, stormwater, subsoil drainage, street lighting, 3m wide shared footpath and street trees.								
Road	The road carriageway is to be 2 x 3m travel lanes with a composition of 50mm select fill subgrade, 150mm DGS20 subbase, 150mm DGB20 base and 100mm asphaltic concrete.								
	The footpath is to be 2 x 2.5m with a composition of 50mm select fill subgrade, 100mm DGB20 subbase, 100mm reinforced concrete and concrete honed pavers								
	Refer to Mitchell Brandtman detailed estimate for full details of inclusions.								

ROADS (CONT.	)
Resurfacing Full Road Width of Canberra Avenue and	Requirements have been estimated based on Lane Cove Council, St Leonards South – DRAFT Special Provision Area drawings and discussion with Lane Cove Council regarding requirement for new kerb and gutter and drainage to development frontages to accommodate removing redundant vehicle entrances and connection of development on-site detention tanks with street pits. Scope includes milling full width of existing road pavement, demolition of kerb and gutter and breaking out existing
Duntroon Avenue	stormwater, re-sheeting full road width with 40mm asphaltic concrete, kerb and gutter, stormwater drainage, kerb inlet pits and street lighting. Refer to Mitchell Brandtman detailed estimate for full details of inclusions.
Resurfacing Half Road Width of Park	Requirements have been estimated based on Lane Cove Council, St Leonards South – DRAFT Special Provision Area drawings and discussion with Lane Cove Council regarding requirement for new kerb and gutter and drainage to development frontages to accommodate removing redundant vehicle entrances and connection of development on-site detention tanks with street pits.
Road and Marshall Avenue	Scope includes milling half road width of existing road pavement fronting proposed development, demolition of kerb and gutter and breaking out existing stormwater, re-sheeting half road width with 40mm asphaltic concrete, kerb and gutter, stormwater drainage, kerb inlet pits and street lighting.
	Refer to Mitchell Brandtman detailed estimate for full details of inclusions.

The following table details the scope of indirect costs included in the Section 94 Contributions Estimate;

#### Table 2 – Indirect Costs

LAND ACQUI	ISITION	
Land Acquisition	1%	An allowance has been included in the Section 94 cost estimates for land acquisition costs associated with council administration costs, surveys, valuations, negotiations. Legal fees and conveyancing costs.

Indirect Construction Costs and Costs and 23%8% - 23%The following indirect construction costs and marge been included in the Section 94 Contributions Est • Parks - 18% • Parks - 18% • Parks - 23%Indirect Construction Costs and8% - 23%• Resurfacing roads - 8% • Drainage - 23%	<b>U</b>
<ul> <li>Fit-out of community facilities - 21%</li> <li>Road construction - 23%</li> <li>Resurfacing roads - 8%</li> <li>Drainage - 23%</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Road construction - 23%</li> <li>Indirect Construction Costs and</li> <li>8% - 23%</li> <li>Resurfacing roads - 8%</li> <li>Drainage - 23%</li> </ul>	
Indirect Construction Costs and8% - 23%• Resurfacing roads - 8% • Drainage - 23%	
Construction8% - 23%•Drainage - 23%	
Costs and 23% • Drainage - 23%	
Margin These have been included for indirect construction associated with preparation of traffic and pedestria management plans, contractor establishment on a supervision and management of construction worl floating large plant to and from site, notices and fe insurances, surveying and setting out, dust contro erosion and sediment control, safety fences, servi searches, demobilisation and margin.	trian n site, orks, fees, rol,
Design and Council On- costs5% - 20%Fit-out of community facilities - 20% • Fit-out of community facilities - 20% • Road construction - 15% • Resurfacing roads - 5% • Drainage - 15%These have been included for design and council associated with council administration costs, project management, architectural, structural, environmer engineering, geotechnical, electrical, civil, landscar quantity surveyor, legal fees, other specialist const council fees and charges, long service levy, 	te: cil on-costs oject ient, cape,
The following contingency has been included in th	the
Section 94 Contributions Estimate:	
• Parks - 20%	
Contingency 15% - 30% • Fit-out of community facilities - 15%	
Road construction - 30%	
Resurfacing roads - 30%	
• Drainage – 30%	

#### 4 <u>SCHEDULE OF EXCLUSIONS</u>

The following exclusions have been made in the preparation of the Section 94 Contributions Estimate;

- Removal of asbestos, restricted and hazardous waste including on-site stabilisation of contaminated material,
- Footpath, turf and street trees to Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue,
- Line marking and signage,
- Upgrade of drainage to Duntroon Avenue,
- Undergrounding, augmentation or relocation of existing authority mains except for drainage to Marshall Avenue, Park Road, Berry Road, Holdsworth Avenue and Canberra Avenue,
- Watering and maintenance of parks,
- Public art to local park,
- Escalation beyond September 2017,
- GST.

#### 5 SCHEDULE OF ASSUMPTIONS

The following assumptions have been made in the preparation of the Section 94 Contributions Estimate;

- Work will be tendered on a competitive basis as the cost we have included have been benchmarked against similar projects,
- Community facility fit-out costs have been provided by council based on similar projects,
- Raised pedestrian crossings to Berry Road and Holdsworth Avenue,
- Works can be undertaken under traffic and pedestrian control during business standard business hours,
- A small allowance has been included for removal of general solid waste where building roads and local parks over existing dwelling locations,
- Refer to Mitchell Brandtman estimates for full details of assumptions,
- Land acquisition rates have been based upon advice included in Hill PDA Consulting letter dated 12 July 2017,
- Indirect costs have been based on percentages outlined in IPART's Local Infrastructure Benchmark Costs Final Report, dated April 2014.

Yours Sincerely

MITCHELL BRANDTMAN

Matthew Kritzler Associate

Attachment 1 – Estimate of Costs

# Attachment 1 Estimates



#### St Leonards South Precinct - S94 Contribution

Preliminary Estimate - October 2017

Summary

Item	Qty	Unit	Rate	Dire	ect Construction Costs	Indirec	truction Costs argin		Design, Professional Fees and Council On-Costs		Contingency			Total	
Land Acquisition															
Social															
Local Park	3,500	m²	\$ 8,500.00	\$	29,750,000.00		N/A	1%	\$	297,500.00			N/A	\$	30,047,500.00
Roads															
New Road (linking Park Road and Berry Road)	876	m²	\$ 8,500.00	\$	7,446,000.00		N/A	1%	\$	74,460.00			N/A	\$	7,520,460.00
Sub Total				\$	37,196,000.00		\$ -		\$	371,960.00		\$	-	\$	37,567,960.00
Works															
Social															
Local Park	3,500	m²	\$ 552.00	\$	1,930,304.00	18%	\$ 347,455.00	15%	\$	289,546.00	20%	\$	386,061.00	\$	2,953,366.00
Pocket Parks (x2)	2,345	m²	\$ 381.00	\$	893,598.00	18%	\$ 160,848.00	15%	\$	134,040.00	20%	\$	178,720.00	\$	1,367,206.00
Fit-out to community facilities (2 x 450m <sup>2</sup> child care facilities, 2 x 150m <sup>2</sup> community facilities)	1,200	m²	\$ 1,500.00	\$	1,800,000.00	21%	\$ 378,000.00	20%	\$	360,000.00	15%	\$	270,000.00	\$	2,808,000.00
Roads															
Berry Road	320	m	\$ 5,197.00	\$	1,662,921.00	23%	\$ 382,472.00	15%	\$	249,438.00	30%	\$	498,876.00	\$	2,793,707.00
Holdsworth Avenue	310	m	\$ 4,974.00	\$	1,541,971.00	23%	\$ 354,653.00	15%	\$	231,296.00	30%	\$	462,591.00	\$	2,590,511.00
New Road (linking Park Road and Berry Road)	84	m	\$ 6,973.00	\$	585,709.00	23%	\$ 134,713.00	15%	\$	87,856.00	30%	\$	175,713.00	\$	983,991.00
Resurfacing Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue	720	m	\$ 1,555.00	\$	1,119,944.00	8%	\$ 89,596.00	5%	\$	55,997.00	30%	\$	335,983.00	\$	1,601,520.00
Resurfacing Park Road and Marshall Avenue	465	m	\$ 1,319.00	\$	613,454.00	8%	\$ 49,076.00	5%	\$	30,673.00	30%	\$	184,036.00	\$	877,239.00
Sub Total				\$	10,147,901.00		\$ 1,896,813.00		\$	1,438,846.00		\$	2,491,980.00	\$	15,975,540.00
Total	1			\$	47,343,901.00		\$ 1,896,813.00		\$	1,810,806.00		\$	2,491,980.00	\$	53,543,500.00

\$ 22,309.79

#### <u>St Leonards South Precinct - S94 Contribution</u> <u>Preliminary Estimate - October 2017</u>

#### Local Park

Item	Qty	Unit		Rate	Sub-Total	Total
Demolition and Earthworks						
Sediment and erosion control	1	Item	\$	17,900.00	\$ 17,900.00	
Remove existing boundary fence and footing	8	Item	\$	5,000.00		
Demolish existing medium size detached houses and clear lot (16 and 24 Park						
Road; and 19, 21, 23 and 25 Berry Road)	6	No	\$	25,000.00	\$ 150,000.00	
Demolish existing small size attached and detached houses and clear lot (18,						
18A and 20 Park Road)	3	No	\$	17,500.00	\$ 52,500.00	
Clear lot without a dwelling (22 Park Road)	1	No	\$	5,000.00	\$ 5,000.00	
Demolish Berry Ln	243	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	50.00	\$ 12,150.00	
Demolish kerb and gutter	97	m	\$	25.00		
Strip topsoil over site and stockpile on site.	3,766	m²	\$	3.50	\$ 13,181.00	
Bulk earthworks allowance	1,883	m³	\$	40.00	\$ 75,320.00	
Respreading topsoil on site	3,766	m²	\$	4.50	\$ 16,947.00	
Allowance for removing debris, remediation and importing fill required for use	5,700	111	Ψ	4.50	\$ 10,547.00	
as capping material (allow 40% of area)	3,014	t	\$	140.00	\$ 421,960.00	
Allowance for retaining structures due to slope of the site	80	~	\$	1,200.00	\$ 96,000.00	
Allowance for retaining structures due to slope of the site	00	m	⊅	1,200.00	\$ 90,000.00	
Footpath Pavement						
Frim, regrade to required contours and compact	635	m²	\$	6.00	\$ 3,810.00	
Allow for base	635	m²	\$	16.00		
Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish	622	m²	\$	140.00	\$ 87,080.00	
Bike path / shared zone marking to paths	622	m²	\$	10.00	\$ 6,220.00	
Extra over for 600mm concrete steeping pavers	22	m	\$	420.00	\$ 9,273.60	
			<u> </u>		,	
Playground Area Surface & Crushed Granite Surface	700	2				
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	786	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	6.00	\$ 4,716.00	
Allow for base course	786	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	16.00		
Mix of hardstand and crushed granite surface	159	m²	\$	85.00		
Playground - older	272	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	85.00	\$ 23,120.00	
Natural play area	356	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	85.00		
Extra over for softfall to play areas	158	m²	\$	240.00	\$ 37,920.00	
Pergola						
Allow for pergola construction to complete.	65	m²	\$	550.00	\$ 35,750.00	
	05	111	Ψ	550.00	\$ 55,750.00	
Stormwater						
Allow for stormwater drainage and pits complete, including excavation, bed, lay,		_				
joint, pipes, pits and backfill (may require line at low side of the park to stop	1	Item	\$	30,000.00	\$ 30,000.00	
water movement into adjacent dwellings.						
Sewer						
Allow for sewer services complete, including excavation, bed, lay, joint, pipes,	1				\$ -	
anchor blocks etc.	1	m			\$ -	
Water						
Allow for connections to bubbler including connection to main and RZPD	1	Item	\$	8,000.00	\$ 8,000.00	
Electricity						
Connection to main, main board and meter	1	Item	\$	30,000.00	\$ 30,000.00	
ighting to paths	10	No	\$	7,500.00	\$ 75,000.00	
ighting to playgrounds	1	Item	\$	20,000.00	\$ 20,000.00	
Lighting to picnic area	1	Item	\$	15,000.00	\$ 15,000.00	
Softscape						
Mounded turf including topsoil	1284	m²	\$	80.00	\$ 102,720.00	
Furf including topsoil	915	m <sup>-</sup>	- · ·			
<b>3</b>			\$	25.00		
Planted areas (allow extra over 20% to the above turf areas)	440	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	120.00		
Allowances for raingardens	120	m²	\$	650.00	\$ 78,000.00	
dge	679	m	\$	55.00	\$ 37,345.00	
Mature trees	28	No.	\$	1,500.00	\$ 42,000.00	
Cultural						
Allowance for interpretive and public art	1	Item	1		Excluded	

MitchellBrandtman

#### Local Park

Item	Qty	Unit	Rate	Sub-Total	Total
Furniture					
Picnic table and bench seats	2	No.	\$ 5,500.00	\$ 11,000.00	
BBQs	2	No.	\$ 15,000.00	\$ 30,000.00	
Informal seats in playground	1	Item	\$ 15,000.00	\$ 15,000.00	
Children's play equipment	1	Item	\$ 75,000.00	\$ 75,000.00	
Informal/ natural playground	1	Item	\$ 100,000.00	\$ 100,000.00	
Shade structures	4	No.	\$ 20,000.00	\$ 80,000.00	
Rubbish bins	2	No.	\$ 5,500.00	\$ 11,000.00	
Miscellaneous park furniture	1	Item	\$ 15,000.00	\$ 15,000.00	
Bike racks	1	Item	\$ 3,000.00	\$ 3,000.00	
Signage	1	Item	\$ 5,000.00	\$ 5,000.00	
Subtotal Local Park					\$ 1,930,304.00

#### <u>St Leonards South Precinct - S94 Contribution</u> <u>Preliminary Estimate - October 2017</u>

#### Pocket Parks

Item	Qty	Unit		Rate	5	Sub-Total		Total
Pocket park 1 - Berry Road								
Demolition and Earthworks								
Sediment and erosion control	1	Item	\$	1,500.00	\$	1,500.00	\$	1,500.00
Demolish existing footpath and stairs	45	m²	\$	120.00	\$	5,400.00	\$	5,400.0
Strip topsoil over site and clear existing vegetation of weeds and unwanted	525	2	đ	40.00	đ	21 000 00	đ	21 000 0
trees	525	m²	\$	40.00	\$	21,000.00	\$	21,000.0
Respreading topsoil on site	525	m²	\$	15.00	\$	7,875.00	\$	7,875.0
Footpath Pavement								
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	177	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	6.00	\$	1,062.00	\$	1,062.0
Allow for base	177	m²	\$	16.00	\$	2,832.00	\$	2,832.0
Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish	177	m²	\$	140.00	\$	24,780.00	\$	24,780.0
Extra over for concrete steps (4 sets of risers with restricted access)	6	m/r	\$	3,250.00	\$	19,500.00	\$	19,500.0
Allow for balustrades to steps	52	m	\$	450.00	\$	23,400.00	\$	23,400.0
Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain	52	m²	\$	1,500.00	\$	78,000.00	\$	78,000.00
Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil.	503	m²	\$	40.00	\$	20,120.00	\$	20,120.0
New mature tree planting	505	No	\$	1,500.00	\$	7,500.00	\$	7,500.0
Allow for upgrading existing planting area.	539	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	120.00	\$	64,680.00	\$	64,680.0
			Ŷ	120.00	Ŷ	0 1/000.00	Ψ	0 1/000.01
Electricity	7	No	\$	7,500.00	\$	52,500.00	\$	52,500.0
Allow for lighting to footpath	/	No	¢	7,500.00	¢	52,500.00	¢	52,500.00
Furniture								
Informal play equipment	1	Item	<u> </u>	15,000.00	\$	15,000.00	\$	15,000.0
Rubbish bins	1	No.	\$	5,500.00	\$	5,500.00	\$	5,500.0
Seating	2	No.	\$	3,500.00	\$	7,000.00	\$	7,000.0
Subtotal (Pocket Park 1)	)						\$	357,649.00
Pocket Park 2 - Holdsworth Avenue								
Demolition and Earthworks								
Sediment and erosion control	1	Item	\$	1,500.00	\$	1,500.00	\$	1,500.0
Demolish existing footpath and stairs	113	m²	\$	120.00	\$	13,560.00	\$	13,560.00
Strip topsoil over site and clear existing vegetation of weeds and unwanted		2						
trees	645	m²	\$	40.00	\$	25,800.00	\$	25,800.0
Respreading topsoil on site	C 45	2		10.00	\$	9,675.00	\$	9,675.0
	645	m²	\$	15.00				
Footpath Pavement	645	m²	\$	15.00	-			
Footpath Pavement						1 452 00		1 /152 0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	242	m²	\$	6.00	\$	1,452.00	\$	-
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base	242 242	m² m²	\$	6.00 16.00	\$	3,872.00	\$ \$	3,872.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish	242 242 242 242	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00	\$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00	\$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access)	242 242 242 242 9	m² m² m² m/r	\$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00	\$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00	\$ \$ \$	1,452.00 3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps	242 242 242 9 130	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00	\$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain	242 242 242 242 9	m² m² m² m/r	\$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00	\$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00	\$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping	242 242 242 9 130 130	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00	\$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil.	242 242 242 9 130 130 564	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m/r m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 40.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting	242 242 242 9 130 130 564 5	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 40.00 1,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0 22,560.0 7,500.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain <b>Landscaping</b> Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area.	242 242 242 9 130 130 564	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m/r m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 40.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0 22,560.0 7,500.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area. Electricity	242 242 242 9 130 130 564 5 5 320	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,20.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00 38,400.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0 22,560.0 7,500.0 38,400.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain <b>Landscaping</b> Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area.	242 242 242 9 130 130 564 5	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 40.00 1,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0 22,560.0 7,500.0 38,400.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area. Electricity Allow for lighting to footpath	242 242 242 9 130 130 564 5 5 320	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,20.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00 38,400.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0 22,560.0 7,500.0 38,400.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area. Electricity Allow for lighting to footpath Furniture	242 242 242 9 130 130 564 5 5 320	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No m <sup>2</sup>	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,20.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00 38,400.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.0 33,880.0 29,250.0 58,500.0 195,000.0 22,560.0 7,500.0 38,400.0 67,500.0
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area. Electricity Allow for lighting to footpath Furniture Informal play equipment	242 242 242 9 130 130 130 564 5 320 9 9	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No m <sup>2</sup> No	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 140.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 120.00 7,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00 38,400.00 67,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact Allow for base Concrete footpath including for exposed aggregate finish Extra over for concrete steps (6 sets of risers with restricted access) Allow for balustrades to steps Allow for retaining structures in steep terrain Landscaping Allow for upgrading turf area including topsoil and soil. New mature tree planting Allow for upgrading existing planting area. Electricity	242 242 242 9 130 130 130 564 5 320 9 9	m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> m/r m m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>2</sup> No m <sup>2</sup> No	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	6.00 16.00 3,250.00 450.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 7,500.00 5,500.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 22,560.00 7,500.00 38,400.00 67,500.00 15,000.00	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	3,872.00 33,880.00 29,250.00 58,500.00 195,000.00 7,500.00 38,400.00 67,500.00 15,000.00



Item	Qty	Unit		Rate	Sub-Total	Total
Berry Road Reconstruction			1			
General						
Allowance for traffic management, pedestrian management, staging and maintaining access to lots during works	1	Item	\$	216,903.00	\$ 216,903.00	
Demolition and Earthworks						
Sediment and erosion control	1	Item	\$	13,800.00	\$ 13,800.00	
Remove existing roundabout	1	Item	\$	25,000.00	\$ 25,000.00	
Mill existing asphalt and excavate 400mm for new road (assume some material to be disposed as GSW)	3,360	m²	\$	76.00	\$ 255,360.00	
Demolish existing kerb and gutter	651	m	\$	25.00	\$ 16,275.00	
Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits	490	m	\$	150.00	\$ 73,500.00	
Road			-			
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	3,456	m²	\$	5.00	\$ 17,280.00	
Allow for 50mm select fill subgrade (assume sourced from select excavated material	3,456	m²	\$	12.00	\$ 41,472.00	
150mm thick DGS20 subbase	3,456	m <sup>2</sup>	\$	18.00	\$ 62,208.00	
150mm thick DGB20 base	3,456	m²	\$	22.00	\$ 76,032.00	
Primer seal	2,976	m²	\$	6.00	\$ 17,856.00	
60mm AC20 + 40mm thick AC10	715	t	\$	260.00	\$ 185,900.00	
Extra over to construct cul-de-sac adjacent pocket park	1	Item	\$	15,000.00	\$ 15,000.00	
Kerb and gutter including an allowance for vehicle crossings and backfilling	651	m	\$	80.00	\$ 52,080.00	
Raised pedestrian crossing spanning 10.5m	53	m²	\$	180.00	\$ 9,450.00	
Upgrade intersection with Marshall Avenue (roundabout demolition measured elsewhere)	1	Item	\$	50,000.00	\$ 50,000.00	
Stormwater						
Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down the side of the road and crossovers every 25m on a diagonal) - assume average size 525mm dia RCP	490	m	\$	450.00	\$ 220,500.00	
Kerb inlet pits	26	No	\$	4,250.00	\$ 110,500.00	
Subsoil drainage behind kerb and gutter	651	m	\$	55.00	\$ 35,805.00	
Street Lighting						
Street lights every 20m to one side of the road including conduits and 16mm2 cable	16	No	\$	10,500.00	\$ 168,000.00	
Subtotal Berry Road			1			\$ 1,662,921.0



Item	Qty	Unit		Rate		Sub-Total	Total
Holdsworth Avenue Reconstruction			1				
General							
Allowance for traffic management, pedestrian management, staging and	1	Item	\$	201,127.00	\$	201,127.00	
maintaining access to lots during works	+	Item	Ψ	201,127.00	Ψ	201,127.00	
Demolition and Earthworks							
Sediment and erosion control	1	Item	\$	13,500.00	\$	13,500.00	
Mill existing asphalt and excavate 400mm for new road (assume some material to	3,255	m²	\$	76.00	\$	247,380.00	
be disposed as GSW)			Ψ		Ψ	,	
Demolish existing kerb and gutter	631	m	\$	25.00	\$	15,775.00	
Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits	480	m	\$	150.00	\$	72,000.00	
Road							
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	3,348	m²	\$	5.00	\$	16,740.00	
Allow for 50mm select fill subgrade (assume sourced from select excavated	3,348	m²	\$	12.00	\$	40,176.00	
material	5,540	111	þ	12.00	¢	40,170.00	
150mm thick DGS20 subbase	3,348	m²	\$	18.00	\$	60,264.00	
150mm thick DGB20 base	3,348	m²	\$	22.00	\$	73,656.00	
Primer seal	2,883	m²	\$	6.00	\$	17,298.00	
60mm AC20 + 40mm thick AC10	692	t	\$	260.00	\$	179,920.00	
Extra over to construct cul-de-sac adjacent pocket park	1	Item	\$	15,000.00	\$	15,000.00	
Kerb and gutter including an allowance for vehicle crossings and backfilling	631	m	\$	80.00	\$	50,480.00	
Raised pedestrian crossing spanning 10.5m	53	m²	\$	180.00	\$	9,450.00	
Stormwater							
Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down the side of the road							
and crossovers every 25m on a diagonal) - assume average size 525mm dia RCP	480	m	\$	450.00	\$	216,000.00	
Kerb inlet pits	26	No	\$	4,250.00	\$	110,500.00	
Subsoil drainage behind kerb and gutter	631	m	\$	55.00	\$	34,705.00	
Street Lighting							
Street lights every 20m to one side of the road including conduits and 16mm2	16	No	¢	10 00 00	¢	160.000.00	
cable	16	No	\$	10,500.00	≯	168,000.00	
Subtotal Holdsworth Avenue	1				-		\$ 1,541,971.0



Item	Qty	Unit		Rate	:	Sub-Total		Total	
New Road Between Park Road and Berry Road									
Demolition and Earthworks									
Sediment and erosion control	1	Item	\$	4,020.00	\$	4,020.00			
Demolish existing medium size detached houses and clear lot (36 Park Road and	2	No	\$	25,000.00	đ	50,000.00			
39 Berry Road)	Z	INO	¢	25,000.00	\$	50,000.00			
Demolish Berry Lane	68	m²	\$	50.00	\$	3,400.00			
Demolish kerb and gutter	27	m	\$	25.00	\$	675.00			
Excavation for the new road including an allowance for remocal of material as	845	t	\$	140.00	\$ 118,300.00				
general solid waste	040	L	φ	140.00	¢	110,500.00			
Road (2 x 3m lanes)			1						
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	524	m²	\$	5.00	\$	2,620.00			
Allow for 50mm select fill subgrade (assume sourced from select excavated	524	m²	\$	12.00	\$	6,288.00			
material	524	111	Þ	12.00	φ	0,200.00			
150mm thick DGS20 subbase	524	m²	\$	18.00	\$	9,432.00			
150mm thick DGB20 base	524	m²	\$	22.00	\$	11,528.00			
Primer seal	504	m²	\$	6.00	\$	3,024.00			
60mm AC20 + 40mm thick AC10	121	t	\$	260.00	\$	31,460.00			
Dish drain (in lieu of kerb and gutter	168	m	\$	140.00	\$	23,520.00			
Footpath (2 x 2.5m shared paths with street trees)									
Trim, regrade to required contours and compact	414	m²	\$	5.00	\$	2,070.00			
Allow for 50mm select fill subgrade (assume sourced from select excavated	414	m²	\$	12.00	¢	4,968.00			
material	414	111	Ą	12.00	φ	4,908.00			
100mm thick DGB20 base	414	m²	\$	16.00	\$	6,624.00			
100mm reinforced concrete	414	m²	\$	95.00	\$	39,330.00			
Concrete pavers	414	m²	\$	140.00	\$	57,960.00			
Street trees (assume 1 mature tree every 10m each side)	18	No	\$	3,500.00	\$	63,000.00			
Stormwater									
Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down of side of the road									
and crossovers every 25m on a diagonal) - assume average size 450mm dia RCP	115	m	\$	450.00	\$	51,750.00			
V-grate inlet pits to dish drain	8	No	\$	4,250.00	\$	34,000.00			
Subsoil drainage under dish drain	168	m	.⊅ \$	4,230.00	۰ \$	9,240.00			
•	100		Ψ	55.00	Ψ	5,240.00			
Street Lighting									
Street lights every 20m to one side of the road including conduits and 16mm2	5	No	\$	10,500.00	\$	52,500.00			
cable			<u> </u>		<u> </u>				
Subtotal New Road Linking Park Road and Berry Road							\$	585,709	



Item	Qty	Unit		Rate		Sub-Total		Total
Asphalt resurfacing of Full Road Width in Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenu	ıe Includin	g New Sta	ormw	ater Drainag	je, I	Kerb and Gut	ter and	Street Lighting
to Half Street Frontage of Canberra Avenue								
Demolition and Earthworks								
Vill - allow 40mm including traffic management	835	t	\$	210.00	\$	175,392.00		
Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting	445	m	\$	45.00	\$	20,025.00		
Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits	445	m	\$	150.00	\$	66,750.00		
Road								
40mm thick AC10	835	t	\$	260.00	\$	217,152.00		
Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle	445	m	\$	220.00	\$	97,900.00		
crossings and backfilling	5	111	φ	220.00	φ	97,900.00		
Stormwater								
Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down the side of the road								
and crossovers every 25m on a diagonal) - assume average size 525mm dia RCP	445	m	\$	450.00	\$	200,250.00		
and crossovers every 25m on a diagonal) - assume average size 525mm dia RCP								
Kerb inlet pits	18	No	\$	4,250.00	\$	76,500.00		
Subsoil drainage behind kerb and gutter	445	m	\$	55.00	\$	24,475.00		
Street Lighting								
Street lights every 20m to one side of the road including conduits and 16mm2								
cable	23	No	\$	10,500.00	\$	241,500.00		
							¢	1 110 044 0
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue							\$	1,119,944.0
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue	ling New 9	itormwate		inage Kerb	and	d Gutter and		· · ·
	ling New S	Stormwate	er Dra	inage, Kerb	and	d Gutter and		· ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue	ling New S	Stormwate	er Dra	inage, Kerb	and	d Gutter and		1,119,944.0 ighting
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue	ling New S	i <b>tormwate</b>	er Dra	inage, Kerb 210.00		d Gutter and 46,872.00		• •
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ Demolition and Earthworks Vill - allow 40mm including traffic management	-				\$			· · ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue           Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ           Demolition and Earthworks           Viill - allow 40mm including traffic management           Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting	223	t	\$	210.00	\$	46,872.00		· · ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ Demolition and Earthworks Vill - allow 40mm including traffic management	223 465	t m	\$	210.00 45.00	\$	46,872.00 20,925.00		· · ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue           Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ           Demolition and Earthworks           Vill - allow 40mm including traffic management           Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting           Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits	223 465	t m	\$	210.00 45.00 150.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00		· · ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue         Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ         Demolition and Earthworks         Mill - allow 40mm including traffic management         Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting         Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits         Road         40mm thick AC10	223 465 465 223	t m m t	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00		· ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue           Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ           Demolition and Earthworks           Vill - allow 40mm including traffic management           Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting           Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits           Road           40mm thick AC10           Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle	223 465 465	t m m	\$	210.00 45.00 150.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00		• •
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue         Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ         Demolition and Earthworks         Mill - allow 40mm including traffic management         Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting         Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits         Road         40mm thick AC10	223 465 465 223	t m m t	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00		· ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue           Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ           Demolition and Earthworks           Mill - allow 40mm including traffic management           Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting           Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits           Road           40mm thick AC10           Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle           Crossings and backfilling           Stormwater	223 465 465 223	t m m t	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00		· ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue         Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ         Demolition and Earthworks         Mill - allow 40mm including traffic management         Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting         Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits         Road         40mm thick AC10         Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle         crossings and backfilling         Stormwater         Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down the side of the road	223 465 465 223	t m m t	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00		• •
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue           Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ           Demolition and Earthworks           Mill - allow 40mm including traffic management           Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting           Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits           Road           40mm thick AC10           Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle           Crossings and backfilling           Stormwater	223 465 465 223 465	t m m t m	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00 220.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00 102,300.00		· · ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue         Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ         Demolition and Earthworks         Mill - allow 40mm including traffic management         Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting         Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits         Road         40mm thick AC10         Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle         crossings and backfilling         Stormwater         Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down the side of the road	223 465 465 223 465	t m m t m	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00 220.00	\$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00 102,300.00		· · ·
Subtotal Canberra Avenue and Duntroon Avenue           Asphalt resurfacing of Half Road Width in Park Road and Marshall Avenue Includ           Demolition and Earthworks           Vill - allow 40mm including traffic management           Demolish kerb and gutter including sawcutting           Breakout and remove existing stormwater pipe and pits           Road           40mm thick AC10           Kerb and gutter including deep asphalt pavement, allowance for vehicle crossings and backfilling           Stormwater           Allow for stormwater drainage lines (allow for 1 length down the side of the road and crossovers every 25m on a diagonal) - assume average size 525mm dia RCP	223 465 465 223 465 465	t m t t m	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	210.00 45.00 150.00 260.00 220.00 450.00	\$ \$ \$ \$	46,872.00 20,925.00 69,750.00 58,032.00 102,300.00 209,250.00		· · ·